No. 21-0590

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD,

Petitioner,

DO NOT REMOVE

vs.

JAMES M. PIERSON,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF THE OFFICE OF LAWYER DISCIPLINARY COUNSEL

Rachael L. Fletcher Cipoletti [Bar No. 8806] Chief Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel rfcipoletti@wvodc.org Andrea J. Hinerman [Bar No. 8041] Senior Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel <u>ahinerman@wvodc.org</u> Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel West Virginia Judicial Tower, Suite 1200 4700 MacCorkle Avenue SE Charleston, West Virginia 25304 (304) 558-7999 (304) 558-4015 – facsimile

TAB	LE OF	AUTH	IORITIES	iii	
I.	STA	TEME	NT OF THE CASE	1

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS AND RECOMMENDATION</u> OF THE HEARING PANEL SUBCOMMITTEE

Formal charges were filed against James M. Pierson (hereinafter "Respondent") with the Clerk of the Supreme Court of Appeals on or about July 23, 2021, and served upon Respondent via certified mail by the Clerk on July 29, 2021. Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel filed her mandatory discovery on or about August 18, 2021. Respondent filed his Answer to the Statement of Charges on or about August 30, 2021. Respondent did not provide his mandatory discovery, which was originally due on or before September 17, 2021, then on or before April 1, 2022, after requesting a continuance, and then again by July 8, 2022, following another continuance. Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel filed a Motion to Exclude Testimony of Witnesses and Documentary Evidence or Testimony of Mitigating Factors on July 8, 2022. After Respondent, by counsel, indicated that he did not intend to have any witnesses testify other than Respondent, and that the documentation Respondent intended to use at the hearing had already been produced by the Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel, the Hearing Panel Subcommittee deemed this motion moot at the prehearing held on July 19, 2022.¹ An evidentiary hearing was set for August 23, 2022.

Thereafter, this matter proceeded to hearing in Charleston, West Virginia, on August 23, 2022. The Hearing Panel Subcommittee (hereinafter "HPS") was comprised of Gail T. Henderson-Staples, Esquire, Chairperson; William L. Mundy, Esquire; and Loretta Sites, Layperson. Andrea J. Hinerman, Senior Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel, appeared on behalf of the

¹ See Pre-hearing Tr. p. 19. Additional motions were filed in this proceedings, such as Respondent's motions to take the deposition of the Complainant Sherri Goodman Reveal, Esquire, and Cynthia Jones. These motions were granted, and those depositions took place on June 28, 2022. Respondent's motion to take the deposition of Shari Collias, Esquire, was denied. However, Respondent was permitted to issue a Subpoena *duces tecum* to Ms. Collias. Respondent's Motion for Clarification of Charges was denied. ODC's motion to quash the Subpoena *duces tecum* was granted due to Respondent's failure to comply with Rule 3.8, WVRLDP.

Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel (hereinafter "ODC"). Paul Saluja, Esquire, appeared on behalf of Respondent, who also appeared. The HPS heard testimony from Sherri Goodman Reveal, Esquire, Shari Collias, Esquire, Cynthia Jones and Respondent and admitted into evidence ODC Exhibits 1-42, Respondent's Exhibits 1-76, and Joint Exhibits 1-2 were admitted into evidence. Joint Exhibit 1 consisted of agreed joint stipulations regarding findings of fact and conclusions of law which had been reached by the parties prior to the hearing.

On or about December 16, 2022, the HPS issued its decision in this matter and filed its "Report of the Hearing Panel Subcommittee" (hereinafter "Report") with the Supreme Court. The HPS properly found that the evidence established that Respondent committed multiple violations of the Rules of Professional Conduct. The HPS issued the following recommendation as the appropriate sanction:

- 1. That Respondent's law license be suspended for Ninety (90) days;
- That upon his reinstatement, Respondent be placed on One (1) year of supervised practice by an active attorney in his geographic area in good standing with the West Virginia State Bar and as agreed upon by ODC;
- 3. That Respondent must complete nine (9) additional hours of continuing legal education in the area of law office management, including at least six (6) of those hours in IOLTA account management prior to Respondent's reinstatement;
- That Respondent must comply with the mandate of Rule 3.28 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure; and
- That Respondent be ordered to pay the costs of these proceedings pursuant to Rule 3.15 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure.

2

B. FINDINGS OF FACT²

 James M. Pierson (hereinafter "Respondent") is a lawyer practicing in Charleston, which is located in Kanawha County, West Virginia. Respondent, having diploma privilege, was admitted to The West Virginia State Bar on May 21, 1985. As such, Respondent is subject to the disciplinary jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia and its properly constituted Lawyer Disciplinary Board.

COUNT I I.D. No. 18-03-191 Complaint of Sherri Reveal, Esquire

- 2. On July 14, 2014, Ms. Cynthia Jones was involved in an automobile accident. She was insured by Nationwide, the other driver was insured by State Farm. Ms. Jones' Nationwide policy provided for \$2,000.00 in medical benefits ("med pay"). At the time of the accident, Ms. Jones was receiving Social Security disability payments and her medical insurer was Medicare. [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 1, Bates 2]
- 3. On December 13, 2014, Ms. Jones signed a "Contract for Legal Services" for Respondent to represent her "in a matter involving a divorce adverse to David Jones." The "Contract for Legal Services" provided for an initial retainer fee payment of \$1,000.00.³ Respondent's hourly rate was \$250.00 and \$125.00 for paralegal and law clerk time. [ODC Vol. III, Ex. 33, Sealed Bates 2467- 2473; Hrg. Tr. p. 17-18]
- 4. The Final Order of Divorce entered March 18, 2016, and May 20, 2016 amended Order provided Mr. Jones was to relinquish any interest in the motorcycle previously delivered

² As found by the Hearing Panel Subcommittee.

³ Complainant alleged that Ms. Jones paid another \$750.00 in or about January 2015, after one of Respondent's paralegals contacted her. Ms. Jones did not have a receipt for this payment. [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 1, Sealed Bates 8; See also ODC Vol. I, Ex. 3]

to Respondent and two firearms (.45 caliber handgun and a 7 mm rifle) that had also been delivered to Respondent. [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 1, Sealed Bates 122-131; ODC Vol. III, Sealed Ex. 40; Hrg. Tr. 18]

- 5. On or about February 18, 2016, Mr. Jones' counsel forwarded to Respondent the title of a 2005 Jeep and a \$2,508.00 check from Geico representing insurance funds regarding the motorcycle that had been wrecked prior to delivery to Respondent. [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 1, Sealed Bates 133-134]
- 6. Furthermore, since Mr. Jones had liquidated his pension, Ms. Jones and Respondent were granted a judgment for \$45,000.00 (which included the prior arrears in alimony, the house payment arrearage before foreclosure, \$15,000.00 in attorney fees⁴, equitable distribution and family support). Judgment was stayed as long as Mr. Jones made certain payments of \$500.00 per month for 30 months until Respondent received his fee of \$15,000.00; \$400.00 a month thereafter until the \$45,000.00 was paid. The Final Order also provided that "[t]he payments set forth in this section shall be made payable to Cynthia Jones and Pierson Legal Services and delivered to Pierson Legal Services" and "[t]hat Cynthia Jones has irrevocably assigned her interest in the judgment to the extent of attorneys fees owed to Pierson Legal Services." [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 1, Sealed Bates 125]
- A \$500.00 alimony payment was due from Mr. Jones on the first of the month beginning March 2016. Ms. Jones' client file reflects a check in the amount of \$500.00 on February 25, 2016 from Mr. Jones made payable to Ms. Jones and Respondent. The memo line

⁴ Respondent's most recent billing statement for the divorce matter (produced pursuant to this disciplinary proceeding) indicated that Ms. Jones has an outstanding balance with Pierson Legal Services in the amount of \$12,777.56.

reads "Alimony – March 2016." There were two other payments made but the alimony check was returned for insufficient funds. [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 1, Sealed Bates 137, 142]

- 8. Respondent filed a Motion for Contempt on April 16, 2016. After a hearing on July 19, 2016, Orders were entered granting Respondent another \$1,500.00 in attorney fees and permitted either him or Ms. Jones to collect on the Judgment. Complainant reported that the Family Court eventually appointed a Special Commissioner to effectuate title transfer to Respondent.⁵ [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 1, Sealed Bates 146]
- 9. On November 15, 2016, the Respondent's office prepared a Bureau of Child Support Enforcement application for Ms. Jones to execute and emailed the application to Anastasia Rhodes of the BCSE with a copy to Ms. Jones. This effort resulted in alimony payments that Ms. Jones received until March 2017. [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 1, Bates 10]
- 10. That on or about June 1, 2017 Buddy Jones died testate leaving David Neal Jones as one of his heirs and upon learning of his death the Respondent did send an email to Ms. Collias and Ms. Jones dated August 14. 2017 advising Ms. Collias and Ms. Jones that her former husband David Neil Jones' father had died that there may be funds available to attach and pay the Judgement which Ms. Jones had gotten in the divorce.
- 11. Respondent again communicated that there was a pool of funds available to pay the judgment in a letter dated September 7, 2017, advising Ms. Collias that there were funds available to pay the Judgement which Ms. Jones had gotten in the divorce.
- Ms. Collias responded by letter dated September 11, 2017 wherein [sic] acknowledged Respondent's communication.

⁵ In March of 2017, Ms. Jones went to the Bureau of Child Support Enforcement for assistance in collecting her permanent alimony, which at the time, was in arrears in the amount of \$4,340.56. Mr. Jones' wages were garnished, and Ms. Jones received a monthly check for a time.

- 13. On February 25, 2015, Ms. Jones had signed an authorization for Respondent to "review [a] personal injury case in order to determine if he would represent her in that matter. The authorization read that if [Respondent] decided to proceed with the representation, they would enter into a separate retainer agreement." Ms. Jones subsequently signed a Medical Authorization on January 25, 2016. However, no written contingent fee agreement signed by Ms. Jones has been produced by Respondent for the personal injury representation. [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 1, Bates 2, Sealed Bates 14]
- No signed contingent fee agreement has been produced by Respondent for the personal injury representation.
- 15. Ms. Jones testified, however, no written contingent fee agreement signed by Ms. Jones.⁶ Ms. Jones testified during her deposition that she agreed to retain Mr. Pierson to represent her in the personal injury matter and that she agreed that Mr. Pierson should apply the net proceeds of the settlement to the balance due on her divorce bill. [See also Hrg. Tr. 18]
- 16. Nationwide sent a Notice of Subrogation on May 2, 2016, to Respondent indicating that it expected reimbursement from any personal injury settlement of the \$2,000.00 med pay it had paid out. [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 3, Sealed Bates 23-24]
- 17. Respondent sent a settlement demand to State Farm on May 10, 2016, for what "he characterized as the tortfeasor's policy limits of \$25,000.00." [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 2, Bates 3, Sealed Bates 26-27]
- 18. On June 20, 2016, Respondent wrote to Nationwide asking that Nationwide waive its right of subrogation. He also noted that "even if Nationwide sought reimbursement, it would only be entitled to \$1,333.22, because under West Virginia law, the company had

⁶ This first sentence of ¶ 15 appears to be a typographical error which was not noticed when the parties signed the Agreed Stipulations on August 23, 2022. See, Joint Ex. 1, p. 5.

to pay its proportionate share of [Respondent's] legal fee."⁷ [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 2, Bates 3, Sealed Bates 42-43, 45]

- Respondent negotiated with State Farm over the next six weeks and eventually accepted State Farm's offer to settle for \$5,000.00 by letter dated July 8, 2016. [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 2, Bates 3, Sealed Bates 47]
- 20. Ms. Jones signed a release of State Farm on July 13, 2016, and State Farm issued a check for \$5,000.00 on July 22, 2016. [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 2, Bates 3, Sealed Bates 11, 51]
- 21. On August 2, 2016, Respondent deposited the \$5,000.00 State Farm check into an Interest on Lawyers Trust Account (IOLTA) (9196) which he maintained at Premier Bank (also known as First Now on the bank statements). [ODC Ex. 30, Bates 2008-2009]
- 22. Ms. Jones' client file contains an unsigned Settlement statement.⁸ The Settlement Statement indicated that Respondent would receive \$1,666.66 in attorney's fees and had advanced expenses in the amount of \$217.37 for a total to Pierson Legal Services of \$1884.97, leaving \$3,115.97. The Settlement Statement then indicated that the following would be paid from the settlement: (1) subrogation claim of Nationwide in the amount of \$1,260.88; (2) escrowed from settlement pending verification of subrogation claim of Medicare Part B in the amount of \$362.78. The statement indicated that the "TOTAL PAID OR ESCROWED FOR SUBROGATION" was \$1,623.66 and the "TOTAL TO

⁷ The date on the letters is June 30, 2016.

⁸ In or about 2017, Ms. Jones retained Shari Collias, Esquire, to help her file for bankruptcy. As part of the bankruptcy representation, Ms. Collias needed financial information about the two legal matters on which Respondent represented Ms. Jones, the divorce and the personal injury matter. Complainant was contacted by Ms. Collias after Ms. Jones had difficulty obtaining her client file from Respondent despite Ms. Jones' requests for the same. Ms. Jones finally obtained her client file from Respondent on August 15, 2017, with the assistance of ODC after filing an informal complaint against Respondent. Complainant filed the formal complaint on May 29, 2018. [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 2, Bates 2; ODC Vol. III, Ex. 41, Bates 2710]

BE PAID DIRECTLY TO CLIENT" was to be \$1,492.31. [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 1, Bates 4, Sealed Bates 53]

- 23. Complainant, on behalf of Ms. Jones, alleged that Ms. Jones did not receive her portion (\$1,492.31) of the \$5000.00 settlement funds which had been deposited into Respondent's Premier Bank IOLTA account (9196) on August 2, 2016.⁹ [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 2, Bates 4] However, Ms. Jones testified during her deposition that she did receive payment of \$1,492.31 from Pierson Legal, although she returned the amounts to him towards her outstanding legal fees.
- 24. After receiving an extension of time to respond, Respondent filed a response to the complaint on August 14, 2018. While he referenced numerous "Resp. Exhibits" in the response, Respondent failed to attach the same to his response. [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 6, 7]
- 25. By Memorandum Decision and Mandate entered July 8, 2019, Respondent was administratively suspended for failure to provide proof of compliance with the mandatory continuing legal education reporting requirements. [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 8, Bates 175-183] Respondent was reinstated on July 10, 2019. [ODC Ex. 8, Bates 184] During this time period, Mr. Pierson was consumed with his personal medical issues, as he was diagnosed with cancer. [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 11, Bates 192; ODC Ex. 22, Bates 253]
- 26. By certified letter dated August 5, 2019, Respondent was advised that his sworn statement was set for November 6, 2019, at ODC. The original subpoena and an

⁹ In a billing statement dated September 11, 2017, Respondent credited Complainant's account on July 22, 2016, in the amount of \$1,492.31. The entry is labeled "Regular Payment – Thank You. Personal Injury Proceeds (MP)." Respondent also credited Ms. Jones' account on February 9, 2016, in the amount of \$500.00 for Mr. Jones' guns; \$500.00 on March 11, 2016 for a Postal Order from Mr. Jones; \$500.00 for a check from Mr. Jones; and \$3,500.00 on September 5, 2017, for credit for the sale of Mr. Jones' motorcycle. The total still due, including finance charges, was \$12,777.56. [ODC Vol. III, Ex. 36, Bates 2612]

acknowledgment of service were included in the letter. The green card, signed by Teconia Williams, was returned to ODC on August 9, 2019. [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 9]

- 27. By letter dated November 4, 2019, sent by both facsimile and certified mail, ODC advised Respondent that his request for a continuance of the November 6, 2019 sworn statement was granted and that a new subpoena would be issued for his appearance at ODC on January 15, 2020. The green card, signed by Respondent, was returned to ODC on November 12, 2019. [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 12]
- 28. By letter dated January 15, 2020, ODC granted Respondent's request to continue the January 15, 2020 sworn statement, and rescheduled the same for 1:30 pm. on February 13, 2020. Respondent was advised that "all other provisions in the Investigative Subpoena issued on November 4, 2019, including the production of documents, remain in full force and effect," [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 13]
- 29. By letter dated February 13, 2020, ODC confirmed a 11:30 a.m. conversation Senior Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel had with Respondent wherein Respondent stated that he did not have the February 13, 2020 sworn statement on his calendar and was "reminded of it upon receipt of recent letter from [ODC] which contained a reference to [the February 13, 2020] sworn statement." Respondent also advised ODC that he "would like the opportunity to obtain counsel for these proceedings and requested two (2) weeks to do so." ODC released Respondent from his February 13, 2020 appearance and stated that ODC "will expect to hear from [Respondent] or [his] counsel no later than Thursday, February 27, 2020, in order to arrange a mutually convenient date for [Respondent's] sworn statement. [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 15]

- 30. On February 27, 2020, Respondent's counsel faxed a letter to ODC advising that he had been retained by Respondent to represent him, but he would be out of the office until after March 15, 2020. [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 16]
- 31. By letter dated March 4, 2020, ODC sent a confirming letter to Respondent's counsel based upon a conversation with his assistant wherein it was agreed that Respondent would appear at ODC on April 16, 2020, for his sworn statement. New subpoenas were issued and included in the March 4, 2020 letter. [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 17]
- 32. On March 22, 2020, the Supreme Court of Appeals issued an Administrative Order declaring a Judicial Emergency due to the COVID pandemic and stayed all proceedings, subject to certain emergency proceedings, in the State of West Virginia, until April 10, 2020. [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 21, Bates 228-229] On April 3, 2020, the Supreme Court of Appeals issued an amended Order extending the stay until May 4, 2020. [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 21, Bates 230-231] On April 22, 2020, the Supreme Court of Appeals issued a Second Amended Order which extended the stay until May 15, 2020. [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 21, Bates 232-33]
- 33. After ongoing discussions with Respondent's counsel throughout the spring and summer of 2020, Respondent's sworn statement was scheduled to occur over two (2) days, October 14, and October 15, 2020. New subpoenas were issued and sent to Respondent's counsel by letter dated September 10, 2020. Pursuant to later discussions between ODC and Respondent's counsel, Respondent appeared for his sworn statement on October 20, 2020, and October 27, 2020. [ODC Vol. II, Ex. 31; ODC Vol. II, Ex. 32]

- 34. On October 27, 2020, Respondent provided the exhibits which had been referenced but not attached to his August 24, 2018 [response to the complaint].¹⁰ [ODC Vol. III, Sealed Ex. 33]
- 35. By letter dated October 29, 2020 addressed to Respondent's counsel, ODC confirmed ODC's request from the October 27, 2020 sworn statement that Respondent provide additional information, Ms. Jones' billing records, within twenty (20) days. Respondent did not respond. [ODC Vol. III, Ex. 34]
- 36. By certified letter dated November 30, 2020, addressed to Respondent's counsel, ODC again requested that Respondent provide Ms. Jones' billing records no later than December 14, 2020. The green card, signed on December 1, 2020, was returned to ODC on December 3, 2020. [ODC Vol. III, Ex. 35]
- 37. By letter dated December 22, 2020, and received by ODC by email on December 23, 2020, and original received by U.S. Mail on December 26, 2020, Respondent provided Ms. Jones' billing records. [ODC Vol. III, Ex. 36]
- 38. In September 2016, Respondent wrote the following checks from his Premier Bank IOTLA account (9196): (1) September 1, 2016, check no. 7077, payable to Pierson Legal Services for \$5,000.00, no memo; (2) September 9, 2016, check no. 7078, payable to Pierson Legal Services for \$2,000.00, memo to Summit; (3) September 13, 2016, check no. 7080, payable to Pierson Legal Services for \$1,000.00, memo to Summit Gen.; (4) September 15, 2016, check no. 7072, payable to Pierson Legal Services for \$2,800.00, no

¹⁰ By email dated October 13, 2020, in response to an inquiry to Senior Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel, Respondent's counsel was advised that Respondent's exhibits to the August 14, 2018 response had not been previously submitted to ODC.

memo; (5) September 16, 2016, check no. 7082, payable to Pierson Legal Services for \$1,100.00, no memo. [ODC Vol. II, Ex. 30, Bates 2014-2022]

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