# BEFORE THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD Petitioner

v.

JAMES M. PIERSON, Respondent.

I.D. No.: 18-03-191 Bar No.: 2907



# BRIEF OF RESPONDENT JAMES M. PIERSON

DOCKET NO.: 21-0590

##

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

That the Respondent has admitted that he failed to timely pay the Nationwide subrogation claim. Also, that he failed to satisfy the CMS subrogation claim prior to the institution of these proceedings. The total amount at issue in these two (2) subrogation claims totals \$1,872.25.

The nationwide clam was satisfied well before the filing of the present complaint<sup>11</sup>. [ It should be noted as well that the CMS subrogation claim has since also been satisfied in full and reimbursement has been effected to Ms. Jones including interest from the date of payment<sup>12</sup>, making the actual harm inflicted by the Respondent in this case negligible at best after said restitution in full. Although these failures and mistakes show that the Respondent has clearly violated duties he owed to his client, the evidence that his violations extended to the public and the legal professions as a whole are less than clear.

The ODC would claim the fact that the Respondent only ever reimbursed Ms. Jones after these disciplinary procedures had begun should now negate consideration of his reimbursement, yet there is credible evidence that Respondent was unaware that Ms. Jones had paid the claim until after these proceedings were instituted, especially in light of the letter sent from Ms. Collias after the payment was allegedly made which failed to mention said payment and which stated that Ms. Jones bankruptcy proceeding had already begun as it was "pending". [Complainant's Exhibit 24, Pierson Exhibit bates 981] Additionally, Ms. Jones' testimony during the hearing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Respondent paid Nationwide by check dated March 27, 2017, in the amount of \$1,333.33[ODC Vol. I, Ex. 2, Sealed Bates 61]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Respondent provided a check to Ms. Jones at the hearing befreo the Board in the amount of \$538.92. [Joint Ex. 2] which represented "the amount of the CMS payment plus the statutory rate of interest from the time it was paid to Ms. Jones. In her deposition, they provided a copy of the check that she sent, so we used the date of the check to the date of today, and it's approximately \$500.00." [Hrg. Tr. 25-26]

when questioned by the board member that she could not state under oath ever actually informing the Respondent of her payment supports this fact. (Hrg. Tr. Pg. 32-33) In light of these facts, Mr. Pierson's reimbursement to Ms. Jones after the commencement of the proceedings is understandably justified. and not evidence of some more nefarious intent or of an attempt to avoid his financial responsibility.

Also, the Respondent agreed to stipulate to the majority of facts and violations alleged in this matter, which stipulations evidencing cooperation and remorse on the part of the Respondent have been entirely overlooked and without consideration. In addition to the negligible monetary/actual damage there exists no further damages in this matter alleged besides Ms. Jones instance that the CMS subrogation claim could have effected her disability claim. No evidence exists on the record to support this unspecified claim. In fact, CMS' correspondence itself had informed Ms. Jones that a bankruptcy proceeding would relieve her any collection activity in regards to the subrogation claim.

## STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

The Respondent requests oral argument in this matter. Additionally, this Court's February 2, 2023 Order indicated that this matter would be scheduled for oral argument pursuant to Rule 19 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure.

## ARGUMENT

In lawyer disciplinary matters, a de novo standard of review applies to questions of law, questions of application of the law to the facts, and questions of appropriate sanction to be imposed. *Roark v. Lawyer Disciplinaty Board*, 207 W. Va. 181, 495 S.E.2d 552 (1997); *Committee on Legal Ethics v. McCorkle*, 192 W. Va. 286,452 S.E.2d 377 (1994). Although this Court gives respectful consideration to the Lawyer Disciplinary Board's recommendations as to questions of law and the appropriate sanction, it ultimately exercises its own independent judgment. *Id*.

Accordingly. This Court is the final arbiter of formal legal ethic charges and must make the ultimate decisions about public reprimands, suspensions or annulments of attorneys' licenses to practice law. Syl. Pt. 3, *Committee on Legal Ethics v. Blair*, 174 W.Va. 494, 327 S.E.2d 671 (1984); Syl. Pt. 7, *Committee on Legal Ethics v. Karl*, 192 W.Va. 23, 449 S.E.2d 277 (1994).

A. Respondent's violated duties to his client, but NOT to the public, the legal system, or the legal profession.

In Section A of the Discussion portion of the Hearing Panel's Report, and also in the brief submitted by the ODC, it is stated broadly and in a conclusory fashion that Respondent has violated duties not only to his client, but to the public, to the legal system, and to the legal profession. Yet, in the outlined facts which are used to support this claim, the Board puts forth the Respondent's failure to enter into a written contract with Ms. Jones, his failure to timely pay the Nationwide subrogation claim, as well as his failure to pay the CMS subrogation claim as evidence of violations of his duty to his client, but then presents nothing which would evidence

or establish the proposition that Respondent herein has violated any duties to the public, the legal system, or the profession.

The Board agreed with the ODC and concluded that "Respondent's noncompliance with the Rules as exhibited in the record is clearly detrimental to the legal system and profession, and his conduct has brought the legal system and legal profession into disrepute. The conduct exhibited by Respondent also undermines the integrity and public confidence in the administration of justice." There is no evidence however in the record that the public was ever implicated in this matter, and indeed the matter revolves around issues concerning only one client. The rulings of the Board as well as the allegations by the ODC in regards to the Respondent's duty and the subsequent injury to the legal system, the profession and the public's confidence are conclusory at best, and are not supported by any specific facts or evidence.

As such, the Respondent asks this Court to disregard the same and to accordingly hold that the duty which the Respondent owed and subsequently violated was to his client alone.

The Respondent does not argue this point in order to minimize the seriousness of his breach of duty, for the duty an attorney owes to his client is of the upmost importance, and the Respondent has sufficient remorse regarding his failures without including vague unspecified duties to other groups.

B. Respondent's culpability in this matter comports more with accident, negligence and/or mistake than with intentional or knowing acts.

Although the Respondent may have possessed knowledge at a certain point that there were subrogation claims owed for Ms. Jones, the ODC presented no evidence that Respondent's

failure to timely pay such claims was an intentional or knowing act. After all, the Respondent satisfied the subrogation claim by Nationwide well before the institution of the present action. [ODC Vol. I, Ex. 2, Sealed Bates 61] As discussed earlier, the CMS letters and the letter from Ms. Collias read together would have logically led the Respondent to believe that the CMS subrogation claim was no longer at issue, and the Respondent reimbursed Ms. Jones after learning of her payment.

In fact in Lawyer Disciplinary Board v. Kupec (Kupec II). 204 W.Va. 643, 515 S.E.2d 600 (1999) the Supreme Court found very similar conduct by an attorney to evidence merely negligence with regard to handling of client funds, not intentional or knowing acts as are alleged against the Respondent. (The attorney in that case had operated an account "contrary to the strictures of the Rules of Professional Conduct" and client monies were in turn lost and/or misappropriated entirely, notably without ever apparently being reimbursed).

Also, the Board concluded, quite correctly, that the evidence established that the Respondent's improper use of his IOLTA Bank Account was due to accident and had resulted in no harm to any client or other entity. Thus the ODC's accusation that Respondent is somehow guilty of multiple occasions of improper use of his IOLTA accounts was never proven and no evidence or testimony was ever presented in support of such a misleading and damning statement.

The only testimony and only evidence given on the record regarding this incident was the Respondent's testimony under oath regarding an accidental Remote Capture Deposit of \$2,734.25 on December 5, 2016, and on the same day a Debit of \$2,700.00 in an attempt to

remedy said accident<sup>13</sup>, and which testimonial evidence was not only convincing and logical as explained, but also supported by the documentary evidence<sup>14</sup>. Thus the Board was quite correct in ruling that no injury was ever alleged to any client and no controverting evidence was ever produced by any witness for the ODC nor any argument made in opposition to the explanation given by the Respondent.

## C. The amount of actual injury to Respondent's former client is not extensive

The amount of "real injury" in this matter as concerns Ms. Jones is minimal, if any at all, after Respondent's reimbursement of all costs. Interestingly, the Board as well as the ODC both quote Ms. Jones, as saying that it took her "six years to get here', and that she "had to pay a lot of money out of her own pocket.", yet puts forth no evidence to support or otherwise explain either of these statements. These "six years" would seem to include the period of time when Ms. Jones was represented quite successfully by the Respondent in her divorce proceeding and in which Ms. Jones herself has acknowledges Respondent's ongoing communications and discussions as well as the ultimate successful outcome achieved on her behalf. [Deposition of Cynthia Jones p.

In point of fact, the only potential harm to the Complainant Cynthia Jones as a result of the non-payment of her CMS subrogation claim which was ever proven, specifically by the admission of the CMS letter to Ms. Jones dated January 24, 2017, was described as being, at worst, an eventual offset of Ms. Jones' Federal Tax Refund or other Federal Benefit (i.e. Social Security Disability Payments) in an amount no greater than the original subrogation claim, plus

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Hrg. Tr. Pg. 56-57

<sup>14</sup> See ODC Vol. I, Ex. 26, Bates 884

any accrued interest. It is worthy of note that no such offset ever actually occurred. (See Pierson Exhibit pg. 974-977)

The record clearly states that Respondent's former client had delivered several letters regarding the outstanding CMS subrogation claim. These letters were dated September 8, 2016, October 20, 2016, and January 24, 2017 respectively. [see ODC Vol, I, Ex. 2, Bates 5-7, Sealed Bates 65-94; Hrg. Tr. 21-23] The letter of January 24, 2017 was titled "Notice of Intent to Refer Debt to the Department of Treasury for Cross-Servicing and Offset of Payments". Shortly after receiving this letter 15 Ms. Jones apparently consulted Sherri Collias regarding filing bankruptcy regarding this and other debts. Even though this debt was clearly dischargeable in bankruptcy Ms. Jones was advised by her bankruptcy attorney, Sherri Collias, to immediately pay the CMS debt personally via a personal check written by Ms. Jones while sitting in Ms. Collais' Law Office on February 1, 2017, in the amount of \$456.71. [Hrg. Tr. 21-23]

This fact, however, was never disclosed to the Respondent prior to the filing of the current disciplinary action. A member of the Hearing Panel questioned Ms. Jones during her testimony at the hearing before the subcommittee in this matter regarding her assertion that she had notified the Respondent she had paid the CMS debt, and it became clear during said questioning that Ms. Jones could not affirmatively testify under oath when or how she actually provided the Respondent with notice that she had paid the subrogation claim personally a little

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Although this letter is dated January 24, 2017, no one testified as to when Ms. Jones was actually in receipt thereof. It is however safe to assume that since the letter was delivered via US Mail that Ms. Jones would not receive the letter for a period of some days after its date of creation, thus making Ms. Jones' payment on February 1, 2017 an even more expeditious act than originally assumed.

Ms. Collias in fact testified that she advised Ms. Jones to both list this debt in her bankruptcy proceeding, and also to "go ahead" and pay the debt. [Hrg. Tr. 38]

over one week after the date on last letter from CMS. (Hrg. Tr. 32-33)

The aforementioned letters from CMS which were actually provided to the Respondent by Ms. Jones, when read in concert with the letter received by the Respondent from Ms. Jones' bankruptcy attorney, Sherri Collias, deserve closer scrutiny in regards to the information which they supplied to the Respondent and hence the "knowledge" that he actually possessed prior to the filing of the present complaint.

First, it should be noted that the final letter from CMS, dated January 27, 2017 [See ODC Exhibit 20, ODC disclosure bates 87-93], states clearly that if a bankruptcy proceeding were filed on behalf of Ms. Jones she would no lonegr be subject to any offset. In addition, the letter from Sherri Collias dated May 26, 2017, states clearly that Ms. Collias was at that time representing Ms. Jones in what she referred to as a "pending bankruptcy proceeding". [Complainant's Exhibit 24, Pierson Exhibit bates 981]. Also, Ms. Collias stated unequivocally at the hearing that had this debt been listed in Ms. Jones' bankruptcy it would have discharged, and further that it SHOULD have been listed.<sup>17</sup>

The Respondent interpreted the word "pending" to mean that said bankruptcy proceeding had actually been instituted and filed. This was not true. The Respondent's interpretation of the word "pending" however is supported by case law, as this Court has previously dealt with whether or not an action is "pending", by saying:

"This Court considered the meaning of the first factor — whether there was a pending or potential civil action — in *Mace v. Ford Motor Co.*, 221 W.Va. 198, 653 S.E.2d 660 (2007) (per curiam). We noted that the dictionary definition of "pending" is:

Begun, but not yet completed; during; before the conclusion of; prior to the completion of; unsettled; undetermined; in process of settlement or adjustment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Hrg. Tr. 43

Thus, an action or suit is "pending" from its inception until rendition of final judgment. (quoting Black's Law Dictionary (5th Ed. 1979))

Williams v. Werner Enters, 235 W. Va. 32 at 39; 770 S.E.2d 532 at 539 (2015)

Thus, upon receipt of Ms. Collias' May 26, 2017 letter, the Respondent would have justifiably believed that the issue of Ms. Jones' outstanding CMS subrogation to be a moot point, as said debt would have rightfully been dealt with and discharged in the bankruptcy<sup>18</sup> and the potential offset no longer a possibility according to the letter from CMS.

Therefore, the evidence presented in the form of the letters received by the Respondent regarding the CMS subrogation claims shows clearly that the Respondent not only had no reason to believe that Ms. Jones had paid the subrogation personally, but also that said subrogation had likely been encompassed and discharged in her bankruptcy proceeding. These facts directly contradict the assertions that the Respondent knew that Ms. Jones' had personally paid this debt<sup>19</sup>. In fact, it is clear that Ms. Collias knew by May 26, 2017, that Ms. Jones had paid this debt<sup>20</sup>, but for some reason failed to inform the Respondent in her letter. Also, these facts go directly to why the Respondent had made no effort to repay Ms. Jones until after the institution of the current proceedings against him. How could the Respondent possibly have repaid Ms. Jones without possessing any knowledge that she had ever paid the debt herself, and also assuming said debt had been discharged in a bankruptcy proceeding?

In truth, Ms. Jones' insistence upon paying her CMS subrogation claim was founded upon an unreasonable fear, such fear being that said debt would or could somehow result in a

<sup>18</sup> Hrg Tr. 43

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>Deposition of Cynthia Jones p. 69

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Deposition of Cynthia Jones p. 59-60

review of her disability claim. Ms. Collias' advice to Ms. Jones regarding the CMS subrogation claim, to "[j]ust go ahead and pay it" (see Hrg. Tr. 38), appears unjustified and questionable advice at best. (see Pierson Exhibit bates 974-976).

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